1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 
 

4849-4021-4969.1   

33947-19 
 

LEWIS 
BRISBOIS 
BISGAARD 
& SMITH LLP 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

 

FOCUS FRAMING and SUN CITY 

ELECTRIC, 

 

   Appellants, 

 

v. 

 

MARTIN DURAN PEREZ 

  

   Respondent. 

  

 
SUPREME COURT NO: 79856 

 

DISTRICT COURT NO:  A-18-774772-J 
 

 

 

  
 

APPELLANTS’ OPENING BRIEF 

 

 

DANIEL L. SCHWARTZ, ESQ. 

JOEL P. REEVES, ESQ. 

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD &  

SMITH LLP 

2300 W. Sahara Avenue, Suite 300, Box 28 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89102-4375

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This is a workers’ compensation case. On December 30, 2016, the 

Respondent, MARTIN DURAN PEREZ (hereinafter referred to as “Respondent”) 

arrived to work and was upset about an allegedly short paycheck for a period 

where he was working under a supervisor named Pedro. On that day, Respondent’s 

Safety Manager, Nicholas Pao, informed Respondent that the proper way to 

resolve his paycheck issue was to speak with payroll at the end of the day and they 

would help him. Mr. Pao testified that Pedro had no authority to resolve the 

paycheck issue Respondent was complaining of. 

Despite Mr. Pao’s instruction, Respondent left his job site and walked to 

another job site where Pedro was working. Respondent then scaled a house frame, 

failed to attach any protective gear, and then proceeded to argue with Pedro about 

the check for approximately ten (10) minutes. Then, unfortunately, Pedro’s son got 

involved in the argument and pushed Respondent off the house frame, causing 

injury to Respondent. A Criminal Complaint was issued against Pedro’s son, Jose 

Rosales. 

On March 6, 2017, Petitioners denied Respondent’s claim for worker’s 

compensation benefits based on the fact that Respondent’s injuries were unrelated 

to his employment. Respondent appealed 
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On June 1, 2017, following Hearing No. 1710955-MT, the Hearing Officer 

issued a Decision and Order reversing the March 6, 2017 determination denying 

the claim.  Petitioners filed a timely appeal. In addition, the Petitioners filed a 

Motion for a Stay of the Hearing Officer’s decision, which was granted. 

On February 9, 2018, this case came on for hearing before the Appeals 

Officer. The testimonies of four separate witnesses were taken: Respondent; 

Respondent’s brother-in-law; and two safety directors for Employer (Nicholas Pao 

and Kevin Mendoza). 

On May 3, 2018, the Appeals Officer issued the subject Decision and Order 

reversing claim denial. The Decision makes no mention of the fact that neither 

Respondent nor Pedro had any power to correct the paycheck issue. 

Petitioners filed the instant Petition for Judicial Review contesting the May 

3, 2018 Appeals Officer’s Decision and Order and the District Court granted a 

request for a stay. 

On July 2, 2019, the District Court denied this Petition for Judicial Review, 

noting simply that the Appeal Officer was affirmed and the Petition was denied. 

The Notice of Entry of Order was filed on September 13, 2019. 

On October 14, 2019, Petitioners filed the instant appeal to this Honorable 

Court. Petitioners also requested a stay from the District Court but the same was 

denied. 
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II. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Respondent’s injuries and the situation leading to those injuries are truly 

unfortunate. Although Respondent’s injuries are unfortunate, he cannot prove that 

his injuries arose out of the course and scope of his employment. Neither 

Respondent nor the person he was arguing with (Pedro) had any authority to 

resolve the paycheck dispute that begat Respondent’s injuries. Respondent’s 

mechanism of injury was therefore unrelated to his employment. Respondent was 

instructed that his paycheck dispute could be resolved by reaching out to payroll at 

the end of his workday. Instead of exercising that option, Respondent left his job 

site, scaled a house without attaching any sort of fall protection, and proceeded to 

argue on a rooftop with a party who had no authority to resolve the issue he was 

complaining of. The direct result of that argument was the injuries that are the 

subject of this claim. 

At the time of that his injuries were sustained, Respondent was not 

performing a task at the direction of his employer. In fact, had Respondent heeded 

the direction of his employer, stayed at his job site, and discussed the issue with 

payroll at the end of the day like he was instructed to do, the subject injuries would 

not have occurred. When Respondent acted in direct violation of the orders of his 
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employer by walking off his jobsite, he ceased performing any task related to his 

employment and had embarked on a personal objective.  

Indeed, by pursuing his own directive and arguing with a party who had no 

authority to address Respondent’s complaints, “[t]he interests of the employer were 

not being aided, protected or advanced in any manner by what [the claimant] did, 

and the quarrel and consequent injury had no reasonable connection with any work 

then being done for the plaintiff in error.” Marion Cty. Coal Co. v. Indus. Com., 

292 Ill. 463, 466, 127 N.E. 84, 85 (1920). 

By failing to take into account that Respondent was not performing a task at 

the direction of his employer at the time of his injury, the Appeals Officer erred. 

Reversal is warranted as Respondent’s injuries were not sustained in the course 

and scope of his employment. 

Furthermore, the District Court erred by failing to make any findings of fact 

or law and simply affirming the Appeals Officer. Without any findings, it is 

impossible for this Court to review what the District Court concluded. See 

Poremba v. S. Nev. Paving, 388 P.3d 232, 238 (Nev. 2017). 

… 

… 

… 
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II. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES FOR REVIEW 

1. IF NEITHER PARTY TO AN ARGUMENT HAVE ANY 

AUTHORITY OVER THE SUBJECT OF THE ARGUMENT, ARE 

ANY INJURIES SUSTAINED AS A RESULT OF THAT ARGUMENT 

COMPENSABLE THROUGH WORKERS’ COMPENSATION? 

 

2. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR BY FAILING TO MAKE ANY 

FINDINGS OF FACT OR LAW? 

 

III. 

FACTS NECESSARY TO UNDERSTAND ISSUE PRESENTED 

On December 30, 2016, a C-4 form was completed which alleged that the 

Respondent was injured when he was pushed off a roof.  The Respondent was 

treated at UMC Trauma for subdural hematoma on the date of the incident. The 

Respondent was taken off work.  (Appendix p. 125)(hereinafter “APP p. ___”) 

A Supervisor Accident Investigation Report notes that the Respondent went 

to the second floor with no fall protection and was involved in workplace violence.  

(APP p. 126) 

Foreman Rafael Benitez noted that he did not witness the event but found 

Mr. Perez passed out on the ground and called 911 and checked vitals.  (APP pp. 

127-128) 

A Safety Report completed by Safety Manager Nicholas Pao, which noted 

that the Respondent was mad due to an alleged paycheck shortage while working 
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on Pedro’s crew.  The Respondent climbed an 8-foot ladder to get to where Pedro 

was working on a second floor. Pedro was tied off with safety gear but Respondent 

was not. The discussion with the two got “elevated.”  Pedro’s son came up from 

the first floor to aid his father, and when Pedro’s son asked the Respondent to stop, 

the Respondent allegedly started yelling at him and the son put his hands on the 

Respondent and pushed him away and the Respondent eventually fell off of the 

roof.  (APP pp. 129-133) 

Pedro Rosales also gave a statement and alleged that the Respondent came 

up to the second floor where he was working and began to say bad words to him 

and tried to hit him.  He told the Respondent to give him time and he would try and 

resolve the problem on January 2, 2017.  His son heard the offensive comments 

and came up to defend him and other people also were involved verbally, including 

an unidentified person who also came up to the second floor and later left.  (APP 

pp. 134-135) 

Pedro’s son, Jose Rosales gave his version of what happened, as well.  (APP 

pp. 136-137) 

Statements by Eduardo Leon and Elvis Herrera noted that the son of the man 

working on the second floor pushed the Respondent who fell off of roof after a 

discussion between the parties.  (APP pp. 138-141) 
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A statement from the Respondent indicated that he climbed to where Pedro 

was working and showed him his check and Pedro stated that houses do not make 

money.  He then states that Pedro’s son stated it wasn’t good and that he was then 

grabbed and pushed off the roof.  (APP p. 142) 

An Industrial Injury or Illness form in Spanish was also executed by the 

Respondent.  (APP pp. 143-144) 

A Criminal Complaint was issued against Pedro’s son, Jose Rosales.  (APP 

p. 145) 

The Respondent was treated at UMC on the date of the incident described as 

a 20-foot fall after being pushed off of a roof. The Respondent was transferred out 

of the Emergency Department after a subdural bleed was discovered along with a 

possible right 8th rib fracture.  X-rays of the left shoulder revealed no acute 

osseous abnormality, and a CT scan of the brain revealed a subdural hematoma, 

and a MRI of the cervical spine was normal except for soft tissue swelling from T-

1 through T-3.  Other diagnostic testing was essentially normal.  (APP pp. 147-

180) 

A claim denial determination was issued on March 6, 2017. (APP pp. 181-

183)  

On March 21, 2017, the Respondent appealed the claim denial 

determination.  (APP p. 184) 
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On March 30, 2017, the adjuster denied March 21, 2017, requests for 1) 

TTD beginning on December 30, 2016, to present and 2) request for transfer of 

care to Dr. Garber.  (APP pp. 185-186) 

Following Hearing No. 1710955-MT, the Hearing Officer issued a Decision 

and Order dated June 1, 2017, reversing the March 6, 2017 determination denying 

the claim.  (APP pp. 187-189.) Insurer filed a timely appeal. (APP p. 190.) In 

addition, the Insurer filed a Motion for a Stay of the Hearing Officer’s decision, 

which was granted. (APP p. 192.) 

On February 9, 2018, this case came on for hearing before the Appeals 

Officer. The testimonies of four separate witnesses were taken: Respondent; 

Respondent’s brother-in-law; and two safety directors for Employer (Nicholas Pao 

and Kevin Mendoza). Of note, Respondent testified that, on the day in question, he 

was working on a house under the supervision of a crew leader named Francisco. 

On that day, Respondent received a check for the work he had done the previous 

week when he was working for a different crew leader, Pedro. (APP pp. 9-10; 13-

15) Respondent believed that his paycheck was low and testified that he went to 

Pedro to discuss his paycheck. Respondent testified that he left the job site that he 

was working on, walked three houses down to where Pedro was, climbed a ladder 

to get to Pedro, did not attach any sort of safety measures to himself, and spent at 

least ten (10) minutes talking to Pedro on the second floor of a house frame. After 
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about ten (10) minutes of discussion, Pedro’s son climbed the ladder and pushed 

Respondent off the house. 

The Respondent’s brother-in-law (Eduardo Leon) was also working on the 

job site but his testimony did not add anything worth noting to this case. 

Mr. Pao, a safety director for Employer, testified that, on the day in question, 

he was on the job site prior to the incident and testified that he and Mr. Mendoza 

(the other safety director) spoke with Respondent about his check. Mr. Pao 

testified as follows: 

NICHOLAS PAO: Yeah, [Respondent] brought it to our 

attention that there was a discrepancy on his paycheck 

from Pedro. We had basically told him, at the end of the 

day, take it to the office and Lucy would get that 

corrected. 

 

DANIEL SCHWARTZ: At that point in time, when you 

were having this conversation with him, would Pedro 

have had any ability to do anything with that paycheck? 

 

NICHOLAS PAO: No. He couldn’t have done nothing. 

He could’ve maybe made a phone call and told Lucy to 

get the check corrected, but as far as him cutting a check 

for him, no. 

 

DANIEL SCHWARTZ: So, your—your—I don’t want 

to say advice, but what you told Mr. Duran-Perez, 

concerning the paycheck was to go to the office. 

 

NICHOLAS PAO: Go to the office at the end of the day. 

Yeah. 

 

DANIEL SCHWARTZ: And then did you leave the 

jobsite? 
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NICHOLAS PAO: Yeah. 

 

(APP p. 35:6-24) 

Mr. Pao also testified that, contrary to Respondent’s testimony, Pedro was in 

fact wearing a safety harness. (APP p. 37; 38-39) Further, Mr. Pao explained the 

check payment process. Crew leaders (like Pedro and Francisco) keep track of their 

subordinate’s hours and turn those hours into a foreman and the foreman turns the 

hours into payroll and payroll issues checks. (APP p. 39) He reiterated that a 

foreman would not be able to do anything with a check after it was cut. 

Mr. Mendoza corroborated Mr. Pao’s testimony as he helped translate for 

Mr. Pao on that day. 

On May 3, 2018, the Appeals Officer issued the subject Decision and Order 

reversing claim denial. (APP pp. 65-71) 

On May 18, 2018, Respondents filed the instant Petition for Judicial Review, 

contesting the Appeals Officer’s May 3, 2018 Decision and Order. The District 

Court also granted a stay. (APP pp. 371-381; 416-419) 

On July 2, 2019, the District Court affirmed the Appeals Officer and denied 

this Petition for Judicial Review. The Notice of Entry of Order was filed on 

September 13, 2019. (APP pp. 490-495) 

On October 14, 2019, Respondents filed an appeal with this Honorable 

Court contesting the Appeals Officer’s May 3, 2018 Decision and Order as well as 
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the District Court’s affirmance of that Order. (APP pp. 528-539) Respondents also 

requested a stay from the District Court but the same was denied. (APP p. 550) 

IV. 

JURISDICTION 

 Appellants have timely and properly appealed this Petition for Judicial 

Review of the Appeals Officer’s Decision dated May 3, 2018. NRS 233B.130. 

Said Petition was timely filed with the District Court on May 18, 2018. On 

September 13, 2019, the Notice of Entry of Order of the District Court’s Decision 

and Order affirming the Appeals Officer’s Decision was filed. Appellants timely 

and properly filed an appeal of that Decision and Order with this Honorable Court 

on October 14, 2019. See NRS 233B.150; NRAP Rule 3; NRAP Rule 4. This 

Court has jurisdiction over the instant appeal. 

A. ROUTING STATEMENT 

Under NRAP 17(b)(10), this case would be presumptively assigned to the 

Court of Appeals as it concerns a Petition for Judicial Review of an administrative 

agency’s final decision.  

… 

… 

… 
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B. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

           Judicial review of a final decision of an agency is governed by NRS 

233B.135.  

NRS 233B.135 Judicial review: Manner of 

conducting; burden of; standard for review. 

 

1.  Judicial review of a final decision of an agency must 

be: 

 (a) Conducted by the court without a jury; and  

 (b) Confined to the record. 

In cases concerning alleged irregularities in procedure 

before an agency that are not shown in the record, the 

court may receive evidence concerning the irregularities. 

 

2.  The final decision of the agency shall be deemed 

reasonable and lawful until reversed or set aside in whole 

or in part by the court. The burden of proof is on the 

party attacking or resisting the decision to show that the 

final decision is invalid pursuant to subsection 3. 

 

3.  The court shall not substitute its judgment for that of 

the agency as to the weight of evidence on a question of 

fact. The court may remand or affirm the final decision or 

set it aside in whole or in part if substantial rights of the 

petitioner have been prejudiced because the final decision 

of the agency is: 

 (a) In violation of constitutional or statutory 

provisions; 

 (b) In excess of the statutory authority of the 

agency; 

 (c) Made upon unlawful procedure; 

 (d) Affected by other error of law; 

(e) Clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative 

and substantial evidence on the whole record; or 

(f) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of 

discretion.   
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 The standard of review is whether there is substantial evidence to support 

the underlying decision.  The reviewing court should limit its review of 

administrative decisions to determine if they are based upon substantial evidence.  

North Las Vegas v. Public Service Comm’n., 83 Nev. 278, 291, 429 P.2d 66 

(1967); McCracken v. Fancy, 98 Nev. 30, 639 P.2d 552 (1982).  Substantial 

evidence is that quantity and quality of evidence which a reasonable man would 

accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  See, Maxwell v. SIIS, 109 Nev. 327, 

331, 849 P.2d 267, 270 (1993); and Horne v. SIIS, 113 Nev. 532, 537, 936 P.2d 

839 (1997). 

 When reviewing administrative court decisions, this Court has held that, on 

factual determinations, the findings and ultimate decisions of an appeals officer are 

not to be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous or otherwise amount to an 

abuse of discretion.  Nevada Industrial Comm’n. v. Reese, 93 Nev. 115, 560 P.2d 

1352 (1977).  An administrative determination regarding a question of fact will not 

be set aside unless it is against the manifest weight of the evidence.  Nevada Indus. 

Comm’n. v. Hildebrand, 100 Nev. 47, 51, 675 P.2d 401 (1984).  

C. THIS COURT CAN SET ASIDE A CLEARLY ERRONEOUS 

DECISION THAT CONSTITUTES AN ERROR OF LAW OR IS NOT 

SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE. 

 

 This Court may set aside, in whole or in part, a final decision of an 

administrative agency where substantial rights of the Appellants have been 
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prejudiced because the final decision is in violation of statutory provisions, 

affected by other error of law, clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative 

and substantial evidence on the whole record, or arbitrary, capricious or 

characterized by abuse of discretion.  NRS 233B.135(3). 

1. This Court Can Set Aside a Decision That is Based on 

Incorrect Conclusions of Law and is Free to Address Purely 

Legal Questions Without Deference to the Appeals Officer’s 

Decision. 

 

 This Court has acknowledged and applied these statutory principles holding, 

for example, that a reviewing court may set aside an agency decision if the 

decision was based upon an incorrect conclusion of law or otherwise affected by an 

error of law.  State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Giles, 110 Nev. 216, 871 P.2d 920 (1994); 

Jessop v. State Indus. Ins. Sys., 107 Nev. 888, 822 P.2d 116 (1991); see, also, NRS 

233B.135(3)(d).  Further, this Court has stated that appellate review on questions 

of law is de novo, and that the reviewing court is free to address purely legal 

questions without deference to the agency’s decision.  Giles, supra; Mirage v. 

State, Dep’t of Admin., 110 Nev. 257, 871 P.2d 317 (1994); American Int’l 

Vacations v. MacBride, 99 Nev. 324, 326, 661 P.2d 1301, 1302 (1983); see, also, 

State Dep’t of Motor Vehicles v. Torres, 105 Nev. 558, 560, 799 P.2d 959, 960-

961 (1989). 

… 

… 
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2. This Court Can Set Aside a Decision That is Not Supported 

by Substantial Evidence. 

 

In determining whether an administrative decision is supported by 

substantial evidence, the methodology for this Court is also well-defined.  First, for 

each issue appealed, the pertinent rule of law is identified.  Thereafter, the 

evidence on appeal is reviewed to determine whether the agency’s decision on 

each issue is supported by substantial factual evidence.  Torres, id.  If the decision 

of the administrative agency on the appealed issue is supported by substantial 

factual evidence, this Court must affirm the decision of the agency as to that issue.  

On the other hand, a decision by an administrative agency that lacks support in the 

form of substantial evidence is arbitrary or capricious and, thus, an abuse of 

discretion that warrants reversal.  NRS 233B.135(3); Titanium Metals Corp.  v. 

Clark County, 99 Nev. 397, 399, 663 P.2d 355, 357 (1983). 

 Substantial evidence has been defined as that quantity and quality of 

evidence which a reasonable man could accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  

State Emp’t Sec. Dep’t v. Hilton Hotels Corp., 102 Nev. 606, 608 at n.1, 729 P.2d 

497 (1986).  Additionally, substantial evidence is not to be considered in isolation 

from opposing evidence, but evidence that survives whatever in the record fairly 

detracts from its weight.  Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 477, 

488 (1951); Container Stevedoring Co. v. Director, OWCP, 935 F.2d 1544, 1546 

(9
th
 Cir. 1991).  This latter point is clearly the significance of the requirement in 
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NRS 233B.135(3)(e) which states that the reviewing court consider the whole 

record. 

 Furthermore, a decision that is affected by error of law cannot be found to be 

supported by substantial evidence.  A decision that lacks support in the form of 

substantial evidence is arbitrary or capricious and, thus, an abuse of discretion that 

warrants reversal.  Titanium Metals, id.   

 NRS 616A.010(2) and (4) are clear that Nevada no longer has liberal 

construction.  Issues must be decided on their merits, and not according to the

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