### 1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 FOCUS FRAMING and SUN CITY 3 SUPREME COURT NO: 79856 Electronically Filed ELECTRIC, 4 DISTRICT COURT May 15.2020406237 p.m. Appellants, Elizabeth A. Brown 5 v. Clerk of Supreme Court 6 MARTIN DURAN PEREZ 7 Respondent. 8 9 RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF 10 11 ALIKA K. ANGERMAN, ESQ. DANIEL L. SCHWARTZ, ESQ. **BIGHORN LAW** JOEL P. REEVES, ESQ. 12 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & 716 S. Jones Blvd. 13 Las Vegas, NV 89107 SMITH LLP Attorneys For Respondent 2300 W. Sahara Avenue, Suite 300, Box 28 14 Martin Duran Perez Las Vegas, NV 89102-4375 15 Attorneys for Appellants Focus Framing and Sun City Electric 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27

28

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

**SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT** 

The Respondent has met burden and proven all the elements of a compensable claim at every level of appeal. Respondent has proven that his injuries arose out of the course and scope of his employment. Respondent had an issue with the paycheck he received and spoke to the foreman, Pedro Rosales, who was in charge of the hours for the subject work week. As the person responsible for verifying and relaying the hours that his employees worked, Pedro Rosales is the person with authority to resolve the paycheck dispute. Respondent disputed that he spoke with Mr. Pao the safety manager regarding the check dispute. Mr. Pao is not Respondent's direct supervisor. Further, Mr. Pao does not give a satisfactory answer why Respondent would approach the "safety" manager to discuss a payroll issue.

At the time of the injury, Respondent was engaging in a work-related action. A paycheck is a motivating reason for people to go to work every day. To say a paycheck is not work related is unreasonable. While it may not fit in Respondent's exact job description, paychecks are clearly work related. Paychecks are a part of every paid employee's job. The person in charge of verifying hours for the subject work week was Pedro Rosales. The person who could correct a mistake with the hours is the foreman, Pedro Rosales. Clearly, Pedro Rosales had the authority over the payroll dispute. Even Mr. Pao admitted that Pedro Rosales could have made a

phone call and told the payroll person to get the check corrected.

The District Court did not error by simply affirming the Appeals officer. It is clear, Appellants did not meet their burden to grant the Petition for Judicial Review and thus it was denied. By affirming the Appeals Officer's Decision and Order, the District Court is in agreement with the findings of fact and conclusions of law of the Appeals Officer. Appellants failed to prove that the Decision was not supported by substantial evidence. Appellants did not prove that the Decision was arbitrary or capricious or an abuse of discretion.

### III.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

The issue in this Appeal is whether the Appeals Officer's Decision and Order reversing Appellants' determination regarding claim denial was proper in this case because Respondent met the evidentiary requirements as required under Nevada law. Further, did the District Court properly deny the Petition for Judicial Review.

### IV.

## FACTS NECESSARY TO UNDERSTAND ISSUE PRESENTED

On December 30, 2016, Respondent suffered an injury while in the course and scope of his employment as a laborer with Employer. (Appendix p. 221)(hereinafter "APP p. \_\_\_\_"). Respondent was upset because he believed his paycheck was short from the work conducted a week earlier while he was a member of Pedro Rosale's crew. On December 30, 2016, Respondent went to ask

Mr. Pedro Rosales about his check. (APP pp. 9:22-25) Respondent climbed to the roof of the house where Pedro Rosales was working. (APP pp. 15:11-16) Respondent was talking to Pedro Rosales when his son intervened and pushed Respondent off of the roof. (APP p. 10:2-4) Respondent fell to the ground where he landed sustaining serious injuries to include, but not limited to "1) traumatic fall 2) Closed head injury 3) Subdural hematoma 4) Possible right 8<sup>th</sup> rib fracture" as the hospital diagnosis. (APP p. 249) Although not working on Pedro Rosales' crew on December 30, 2016, Respondent credibly testified that if there was an issue with his check that he needed to talk to Pedro Rosales. (APP p. 376)

A Criminal Complaint was issued against Pedro's son, Jose Rosales regarding the incident. (APP p. 326)

On March 6, 2017, Employer issued a determination denying Respondent's claim. (APP pp. 258-262)

On March 21, 2017, Respondent appealed Employer's claim denial determination. (APP p. 184)

On June 1, 2017, Hearing Officer Megan Trenkler issued her Decision and Order which REVERSED/REMANDED Employer's March 6, 2017 claim denial determination. (APP pp. 187-189). Appellants filed an appeal. (APP p. 190) Appellants also filed a Motion for Stay which was granted. (APP p.192)

On February 9, 2018, the matter was heard before Appeals Officer York. The testimonies of four separate witnesses were taken: Respondent; Eduardo Leon;

Nicholas Pao and Kevin Mendoza. On the day of the incident, Respondent received a check for the work done the previous week while working for Pedro Rosales. (APP pp. 9-10; 13-15) Respondent believed his check was low and testified that he went to Pedro Rosales to discuss the issue. (APP p. 9:22-25) Respondent testified that he walked to where Pedro was working, climbed a ladder to talk to Pedro Rosales on the second floor of a house. (APP p. 12:5-16) Pedro Rosales was the person who gave Respondent his check. (APP p. 10:21-23) During Respondent's discussion with Pedro Rosales, Pedro's son climbed the ladder and pushed Respondent off the house. (APP 10:1-4)

Of note, Nicholas Pao and Kevin Mendoza were safety officers for the employer who did not witness the incident. (APP pp.34; 42:5-7) Respondent also stated that no one was wearing safety measures. (APP p.) Mr. Pao explained the check payment process. (APP p. 38:1-13; 40:11-41:13) Further, Mr. Pao testified that Pedro Rosales could have made a phone call and told "Lucy" to the get the check corrected. (APP p. 35:14-15).

Mr. Pao, a safety director for Employer, testified that he spoke to Respondent on the day of the incident, but was not present prior to the incident. (APP p. 34) Mr. Pao testified that he discussed Respondent's issue with his check and directed Respondent to take it to the office at the end of the day and Lucy would get the check corrected. (APP p.32:6-9) However, Respondent denied speaking to Mr. Pao on the day of incident regarding his check. (APP p. 14:18-20) Further, Mr.

Pao admitted that he needs help when people are speaking "real fast" as there is "somewhat of a language barrier." (APP pp. 34-35) Clearly, Mr. Pao cannot state with a certainty what he discussed in his alleged conversation with Respondent as he needed to translate the conversation. Appellant relied on Mr. Pao's investigation but failed to recognize that Mr. Pao's investigation relied heavily upon his interview of Pedro Rosales. (APP p. 39:3-15) Obviously, Pedro Rosales had an interest in protecting himself and his son from legal trouble and his testimony cannot be relied upon. Further, Mr. Pao attempts to single Respondent out as the only person without safety gear, then later corrects himself and admits Jose Rosales was not wearing the proper safety gear as well. (APP p. 37:14-16) With regards to the actual incident, Mr. Pao's testimony cannot be relied upon as he has no personal knowledge of the incident and is only reciting what Pedro Rosales relayed to him.

Kevin Mendoza testified as a safety officer for employer. (APP pp.42-50). Mr. Mendoza's testimony was similar to Mr. Pao's testimony. Mr. Mendoza admitted that the first time he met Respondent was on the day of the incident. (APP p. 46:1-9) Mr. Mendoza also described the duties of a safety officer. (APP pp. 49:21-50:4) None of the job duties included payroll or the payroll process.

Appeals Officer York found that Respondent was employed by Focus when, on December 30, 2016, he was assaulted and pushed off a roof of a house under construction. The circumstances of this assault lead the Appeals Officer to

conclude the claim is compensable. (APP p. 377) Appeals Officer York found it was not a case where the assault and injuries were sustained through animosity and ill feelings arising from some cause entirely unrelated with the employee's company. <u>Id</u>. The Appeals Officer found Respondent to have credibly testified that if there was an issue with his check that he needed to talk to Pedro Rosales. (APP p. 376) There is a clear indication that the work issue of a paycheck dispute was the catalyst which led to this unfortunate incident. [Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 NEV 724 121 P.3d 1026 (2005)]. (APP p. 377)

Appellants appealed this Petition for Judicial Review of the Appeals Officer's Decision dated May 3, 2018. Said Petition was filed with the District Court on May 18, 2018. (APP pp. 371-381) The District Court granted a stay. (APP pp. 416-419)

On July 2, 2019, the District Court affirmed the Appeals Officer and denied the Petition for Judicial Review. The Notice of Entry of Order was filed on September 13, 2019. (APP pp. 490-495)

On October 14, 2019, Appellants filed an appeal with this Honorable Court contesting the Appeals Officer's May 3, 2018 Decision and Order and the District Court's affirmance of that Order. (APP pp. 528-539). Appellants also requested a stay from the District Court but the same was denied. (APP p.550)

...

28 ...

\_

### **JURISDICTION**

IV.

Appellants appealed this Petition for Judicial Review of the Appeals Officer's Decision dated May 3, 2018. NRS 233B.130. Said Petition was filed with the District Court on May 18, 2018. On September 13, 2019, the Notice of Entry of Order of the District Court's Decision and Order affirming the Appeals Officer's Decision was filed. Appellants filed an appeal of that Decision and Order with this Honorable Court on October 14, 2019. Respondents also requested a stay from the District Court but the same was denied. See NRS 233B.150; NRAP Rule 3; NRAP Rule 4. This Court has jurisdiction over the instant appeal.

## A. ROUTING STATEMENT

Under NRAP 17(b)(10), this case would be presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals as it concerns a Petition for Judicial Review of an administrative agency's final decision.

## **B. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Nevada Administrative Procedure Act, as contained in NRS 233B, outlines the standard for review to be used when conducting a judicial review of a final decision of an agency. NRS 233B.135 states, in relevant part, the following:

- 1. Judicial review of a final decision of an agency must be:
  - (a) Conducted by the court without a jury; and
  - (b) Confined to the record.

In cases concerning alleged irregularities in procedure before an agency that are not shown in the record, the court may receive evidence concerning the irregularities.

- 2. The final decision of the agency shall be deemed reasonable and lawful until reversed or set aside in whole or in part by the court. The burden of proof is on the party attacking or resisting the decision to show that the final decision is invalid pursuant to subsection 3.
- 3. The court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of evidence on a question of fact. The court may remand or affirm the final decision or set it aside in whole or in part if substantial rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the final decision of the agency is:
  - (a) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
  - (b) In excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
  - (c) Made upon unlawful procedure;
  - (d) Affected by other error of law;
- (e) Clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
  - (f) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion.
- 4. As used in this section, "substantial evidence" means evidence which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.

NRS 233B.135 (2015).

In reviewing a petition of relief from an administrative decision, the District Court may not disturb the decision of an Appeals Officer unless the decision was clearly erroneous or constituted an abuse of discretion. See Nevada Indus. Comm'n v. Reese, 93 Nev. 155, 560 P.2d 1352 (1977). With regard to factual determinations, the decision of the Appeals Officer, as trier of fact, are conclusive so long as they are supported by evidence which a reasonable mind would consider to be sufficient to support the Appeals Officer's conclusion. See Nevada Indus. Comm'n v. Williams, 91 Nev. 686, 541 P.2d 905 (1975). The court may not substitute its own judgment as to the weight of evidence but is limited to

determining whether the Appeals Officer's determination was arbitrary or capricious. See McCracken v. Fancy, 98 Nev. 30 (1982).

Most issues are not purely questions of law, but rather are issues involving the finding of facts and the application of those facts to law. Deference is given by the reviewing court to conclusions of law made by the appeals officer. See Jones v. Rosner, 102 Nev. 215, 719 P.2d 805 (1986).

Regarding issues of law, it is appropriate for the reviewing court to make an independent judgment, rather than use a more deferential standard of review. See Maxwell v. State Indus. Ins. Sys., 109 Nev. 327, 849 P.2d 267 (1993). Issues of purely legal questions are reviewed de novo; the appeals officer's fact-based conclusions of law are entitled to deference when supported by substantial evidence. See Law Offices of Barry Levinson v. Milko, 124, Nev. 355, 362, 184 P.3d 378, 383 (2008). A "pure legal question" is a question that is not dependent upon and must necessarily be resolved without reference to any fact in the case before the court. See Beavers v. State Dept. of Motor Vehicles & Pub. Safety, 109 Nev. 435, 851 P.2d 432 (1993).

In the present matter, the decision of Appeals Officer York is entitled to deference because it involves a question of fact. The Appeals Officer considered medical reporting and testimony of four people, two of which were actual eyewitnesses to the incident along with written and oral arguments of counsel for the parties and rendered his decision. As argued herein, this opinion was based on

substantial evidence and does not constitute an abuse of discretion or misapplication of law as alleged by Appellants in their Opening Brief. The District Court properly denied the Petition for Judicial Review.

V.

## **LEGAL ARGUMENT**

# A. The Appeals Officer Correctly Analyzed the Issues Pursuant to Nevada Law and The Resultant Decision and Order Is Neither Erroneous Nor An Abuse of Discretion.

The Appellants attempt to convince this Court that Appeals Officer York, in all his years of experience, cannot properly analyze facts, testimony, and medical reporting under Nevada Law. In doing so, Appellants attempt to relitigate the factual findings of the Appeals Officer.

Here, Appellants allege the Appeals Officer excluded all evidence of how the paycheck dispute resolution process was explained to Respondent. Mr. Pao, a safety director for Employer, testified that he spoke to Respondent on the day of the incident, but was not present prior to the incident. Mr. Pao testified that he discussed Respondent's issue with his check. However, Respondent denied speaking to Mr. Pao on the day of incident regarding his check. Further, Mr. Pao admitted that he needs help when people are speaking "real fast" as there is "somewhat of a language barrier." Clearly, Mr. Pao cannot state with a certainty what he discussed in his alleged conversation with Respondent as he needed to translate the conversation. Appellant relied on Mr. Pao's investigation but fails

to recognize that Mr. Pao's investigation relied heavily upon his interview of Pedro Rosales. Obviously, Pedro Rosales had an interest in protecting himself and his son from legal trouble and his testimony cannot be relied upon. Further, Mr. Pao attempts to single Respondent out as the only person without safety gear, then later corrects himself and admits Jose Rosales was not wearing the proper safety gear as well.

With regards to the actual incident, Mr. Pao's testimony cannot be relied upon as he has no personal knowledge of the incident and is only reciting what Pedro Rosales relayed to him. The only person the Appeals Officer could rely upon regarding the events of the incident was Respondent and that is exactly what the Appeals Officer did. Further, the Appeals Officer specifically commented on Respondent's credibility in the subject Decision and Order. This is clearly a factual issue and Appellants have failed to show how the Decision was not supported by evidence which a reasonable mind would consider to be sufficient to support the Appeals Officer's conclusion. Appellants are attempting to have this Court substitute its own judgment as to the weight of evidence without showing that the Appeals Officer's determination was arbitrary or capricious.

# 1. The Appeals Officer Did Not Exclude Evidence to the Paycheck Process

Appellants allege that because the Appeals Officer did not reference the testimony that all evidence was excluded of how the paycheck process works.

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